Supreme Court of California

Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court

Electronically RECEIVED on 7/2/2021 at 10:06:49 AM

Supreme Court of California

Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court
Electronically FILED on 7/2/2021 by M. Chang, Deputy Clerk

S269647

Supreme Court No. _____ Court of Appeal No. F079209 Superior Court No. VCF109133B (Tulare County)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

JUVENTINO ESPINOZA,

Defendant and Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Appeal from Order After Judgment of the Superior Court Of Tulare County, The Honorable Steven Barnes, Judge Presiding

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case presents the following issue for review:

Whether a defendant who submits unrebutted evidence that he was not advised by his attorney regarding the specific immigration consequences of his plea and that, had he been advised of the consequences he would have rejected the plea based on his desire to remain with his family in the United States, is entitled to relief under Penal Code section 1473.7?

GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

A grant of review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision and to settle an important question of law pursuant to Rule 8.500(b)(1) of the California Rules of Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner is a citizen of Mexico and has been a Lawful Permanent Resident of the United States since 1986. (CT 146.) His wife and five children are United States citizens. (*Ibid.*) His parents and siblings all reside in the United States. (*Ibid.*)

Following an investigation into suspected methamphetamine manufacturing by Tulare County law enforcement officials, Petitioner and five others were charged in a felony complaint. (CT 146-147.) After a preliminary hearing, Petitioner was charged in a first amended felony information on July 15, 2003 with conspiracy to manufacture methamphetamine in violation of Penal Code section 182(a)(1), manufacturing a controlled substance in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11379.6(a), possession of methamphetamine analogs with intent to manufacture methamphetamine in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11383(c), allowing a place for preparation or storage of a controlled substance in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11366.5(a), child abuse in violation of Penal Code section 273a(a) and possession of a controlled substance in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11350. (CT 20-25; 147.)

On January 5, 2004, Petitioner pled no contest to violations of Penal Code section 182(a), Health and Safety Code section 11366.5(a), Penal Code section 273a(a) and Health and Safety Code section 11350. (CT 26-27; 147.) On February 2, 2004, the court sentenced Petitioner to 9 years, 8 months and suspended the execution of sentence for five years, with 365 days in the

county jail to be served as a condition of probation. (CT 26-27; 147; 173.)

Petitioner was not informed by his attorney that entering pleas to the charges would result in his deportation, exclusion from admission to the United States and denial of naturalization. (CT 172; 175.) He was instead told by his attorney that, if he pleaded no contest, everything would be fine. (CT 173; 175.) Had he been meaningfully informed of those consequences, he would not have accepted the government's offer and would have taken the case to trial, given his strong ties to the United States. (CT 172; 175.)

In 2015, Petitioner first learned of the adverse immigration consequences of his convictions when immigration authorities commenced removal proceedings upon his return from Mexico at the Fresno airport. (CT 148; 165-167; 176.) In fact, Petitioner's conviction under Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 is a controlled substance offense and crime of moral turpitude which renders him subject to removal. (CT 169.) It is also an aggravated felony for immigration purposes. (*Ibid.*) The conviction significantly precludes Petitioner's opportunity for relief from removal as it makes him ineligible, as a noncitizen convicted of an aggravated felony, from most forms of relief under immigration law. (*Ibid.*) He would otherwise be eligible for Cancellation of Removal. (*Ibid.*) His conviction under Health and Safety Code section 11350(a) for possession of cocaine also makes him removable as it is a controlled substance offense. (*Ibid.*) His conviction under Penal Code section 182(a)(1) for

conspiracy to violate Health and Safety Code section 11379.6 is also a controlled substance offense. (*Ibid.*) Furthermore, his conviction under Penal Code section 273a(a) is a deportable offense as a crime of child abuse. (*Ibid.*) As a result of the plea, Petitioner is in grave danger of losing his Lawful Permanent Resident status, being ineligible for naturalization, being removed from the United States and being separated from his family. (*Ibid.*)

On March 18, 2019, Petitioner filed a "Renewed Motion to Vacate Judgment. Amended Pen. C. § 1473.7" in Tulare County Superior Court. (CT 144-211.) On April 5, 2019, Respondent filed an opposition to the motion. (CT 212-222.) On April 9, 2019, the motion was heard and denied by the Honorable Steven Barnes. (CT 223.)

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

I. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO
DECIDE WHETHER A DEFENDANT WHO
SUBMITS UNREBUTTED EVIDENCE THAT HE
WAS NOT ADVISED BY HIS ATTORNEY
REGARDING THE SPECIFIC IMMIGRATION
CONSEQUENCES OF HIS PLEA AND THAT,
HAD HE BEEN ADVISED OF THE
CONSEQUENCES HE WOULD HAVE
REJECTED THE PLEA BASED ON HIS DESIRE
TO REMAIN WITH HIS FAMILY IN THE
UNITED STATES, IS ENTITLED TO RELIEF
UNDER PENAL CODE SECTION 1473.7

The unrebutted evidence in the trial court established that Petitioner was not meaningfully informed of the immigration consequences and did not knowingly accept those consequences prior to entering his plea. His attorney did not discuss his immigration status and instead told him that everything would be fine. Contemporaneous objective evidence established that, had he been advised of the immigration consequences, he would not have accepted the government's offer and would have taken the case to trial given his strong ties to the United States and lack of ties to Mexico. (See *People v. Vivar* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 510 [278 Cal.Rptr.3d 2, 18, 485 P.3d 425, 438].)

Penal Code section 1473.7 allows a conviction to be vacated where there is a showing that "[t]he conviction or sentence is legally invalid due to a prejudicial error damaging the moving

party's ability to meaningfully understand, defend against, or knowingly accept the actual or potential adverse immigration consequences of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere." (Penal Code, § 1473.7(a)(1).) "A finding of legal invalidity may, but need not, include a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel." (Penal Code § 1473.7(a)(1), as amended by Stats. 2018, ch. 525, § 2.)

This Court recently held in *People v. Vivar* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 510 that "showing prejudicial error under section 1473.7, subdivision (a)(1) means demonstrating a reasonable probability that the defendant would have rejected the plea if the defendant had correctly understood its actual or potential immigration consequences." (*People v. Vivar, supra*, 11 Cal.5th 510 [278 Cal.Rptr.3d 2, 17, 485 P.3d 425, 437–438].) "When courts assess whether a petitioner has shown that reasonable probability, they consider the totality of the circumstances." (*Ibid.*)

In the present case, as was the case in *People v. Vivar* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 510, the evidence is that Petitioner's attorney never discussed the actual or potential immigration consequences of the plea with him. (CT 172; 175.) He was instead advised that if he pleaded no contest, everything would be fine. (CT 173; 175.) In other words, Petitioner did not "meaningfully understand" or "knowingly accept" the immigration consequences when he pleaded guilty in 2004. (Penal Code § 1473.7(a)(1).) Thus, Petitioner's declaration plainly established his own "error" within the meaning of Penal Code section 1473.7(a)(1).

With regard to prejudice, the contemporaneous objective evidence is that, had Petitioner been advised of the dire immigration consequences, he would not have accepted the government's offer and would have taken the case to trial. (CT 172; 175.) Similar to *Vivar*, there is compelling evidence in the record that at the time of his plea, Petitioner would have considered his immigration status to be an important part of his decision to enter a plea and would not have knowingly accepted the consequence of removal without a fight. (See *People v. Vivar*, supra, 11 Cal.5th 510 [278 Cal.Rptr.3d 2, 18, 485 P.3d 425, 438].) These contemporaneous objective facts which corroborate Petitioner's concern about the immigration consequences include that he had been living in the United States for 18 years after leaving Mexico in 1986. His wife and children were United States citizens at the time of the plea. His parents and siblings lived in the United States. The consequences of being permanently removed from his wife, children, parents and siblings in the United States under those circumstances are objectively devastating and establish it is probable that he would not have accepted the plea had he been properly advised.

While the Court of Appeal references *Vivar* in its opinion, it failed to review the record independently and failed to take into account the substantial contemporaneous evidence at or near the time of Petitioner's plea corroborating his claim that he wouldn't have pleaded guilty if he'd known it would result in his deportation from his home of 18 years. (See *People v. Vivar*, *supra*, 11 Cal.5th 510 [278 Cal.Rptr.3d 2, 20–21, 485 P.3d 425, 441]. As was the case in *Vivar*, the evidence demonstrates that if Petitioner had meaningfully understood the mandatory

immigration consequences of his guilty plea in 2004, versus the potential risks and rewards of going to trial, it is reasonably probable that he would have not pleaded guilty and would have instead taken his chances at trial. Therefore, Petitioner established a "prejudicial error" within the meaning of Penal Code section 1473.7(a)(1) and review should be granted to clarify that he is entitled to relief.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court grant review.