No. S269647

# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JUVENTINO ESPINOZA,

Defendant and Petitioner.

Fifth District Court of Appeal, Case No. F079209 Tulare County Superior Court, Case No. VCF109133B-03 The Honorable Steven D. Barnes, Judge

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Defendant, Juventino Espinoza, has asked this Court to grant review on the following issue:

Whether a defendant who submits unrebutted evidence that he was not advised by his attorney regarding the specific immigration consequences of his plea and that, had he been advised of the consequences he would have rejected the plea based on his desire to remain with his family in the United States, is entitled to relief under Penal Code section 1473.7.

(Pet. 4.)

#### **INTRODUCTION**

In 2003, defendant was charged with crimes related to manufacturing large quantities of methamphetamine around children. In 2004, defendant agreed to plead no contest to some charges in exchange for the dismissal of other charges. Imposition of sentence was suspended, and the trial court granted defendant five years of formal probation with conditions that he serve 365 days in county jail and enroll in and complete a residential substance abuse treatment program. Although the record is sparse, defendant admitted that the trial court advised him that his plea to the offenses could result in deportation. Defendant, a longtime legal permanent resident whose wife and five children are all United States citizens, claims that he first learned of the adverse immigration consequences of his plea in 2015 when he returned to California after visiting family in Mexico.

Defendant filed two motions to vacate his plea pursuant to Penal Code section 1473.7, arguing that plea counsel had

4

committed prejudicial error by failing to advise him of the adverse immigration and penal consequences of his plea. Defendant argued that, due to his strong ties to the United States, he would not have accepted the plea had he known of the adverse immigration consequences. The superior court denied both motions, and defendant appealed the denial of the second motion. Applying this Court's decision in *People v. Vivar* (2020) 11 Cal.5th 510, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment in an unpublished opinion, finding that defendant had not established "prejudicial error" because he failed to provide significant contemporaneous evidence to corroborate his claim that immigration was a material concern when he settled the case.

Review is not warranted because defendant has failed to identify a division of published authority in the appellate courts regarding application of this Court's decision in *Vivar*, and this case presents a fact-bound claim that will not settle an important question of law. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2004, defendant pled no contest to conspiracy to manufacture methamphetamine (Pen. Code,<sup>1</sup> § 182, subd. (a)(1); Health & Saf. Code, § 11379.6; count 1); providing space for manufacturing methamphetamine (Health & Saf. Code, § 11366.5, subd. (a); count 4); child endangerment (§ 273a, subd.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unless otherwise designated, all further statutory references are to the Penal Code.

(a); count 5); and possession of cocaine (Health & Saf. Code,
§ 11350, subd. (a); count 7). (CT 26-27, 147.) In exchange for defendant's plea, other drug-manufacturing charges and special allegations, including enhancements for large quantities of methamphetamine in the presence of children, were dismissed.
(CT 22-23, 147.) Although the record regarding the change of plea and sentencing is sparse,<sup>2</sup> defendant admits that the trial court advised him that the offenses could result in deportation at the time of his plea. (See CT 30, 71, 115, 172; see also CT 53.)

At sentencing, defendant received a grant of five years formal probation.<sup>3</sup> (CT 26.) As a condition of probation, the court ordered him to serve 365 days in county jail. (CT 26-27.) The court also directed him to enroll in and complete a residential substance abuse treatment program while in custody. (*Ibid*.)

On February 24, 2015, defendant was notified that his prior convictions subjected him to removal from the United States. (CT 93-95, 165-167.)

On March 9, 2018, defendant filed a motion to vacate his convictions pursuant to section 1473.7 based on counsel's failure

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Information regarding defendant's change of plea was not attached in support of his motion to withdraw his plea, and neither the reporter's transcript from the change of plea hearing nor from the February 2, 2004, sentencing hearing are part of the record in this appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> According to defendant, the trial court suspended execution, rather than imposition, of a nine-year, eight-month sentence. (Pet. 5.) But the sentencing hearing minute order states, "Imposition of sentence suspended during this term [of probation]." (CT 26.)

to inform defendant of the immigration and immediate penal consequences of his plea.<sup>4</sup> (CT 66-117.) Following a contested hearing on June 20, 2018, the trial court denied the motion because the record did not support defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, and the motion was untimely. (CT 143; 2RT 22.) Defendant did not file a notice of appeal.

On March 18, 2019, defendant filed a "renewed" motion to vacate the judgment based on recent amendments to section 1473.7. (CT 144-211.) On April 9, 2019, the court found that defendant had failed to provide sufficient evidence of prejudicial error and denied the motion. (CT 223.)

Defendant appealed from the trial court's denial of his renewed motion to vacate his convictions. (CT 224.) He argued that the trial court erred in denying his motion because he was not meaningfully informed of the immigration consequences prior to his plea, did not knowingly accept those consequences, and would have insisted on proceeding to trial had he known of the immigration consequences due to his strong familial ties to the United States and lack of ties to Mexico. (AOB 12-21.) On May 28, 2021, the California Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, rejected defendant's contentions and affirmed the judgment based on its determination that defendant had failed to corroborate his claim that immigration was a material concern at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Defendant had filed a "nonstatutory" motion to vacate his convictions based on ineffective assistance of counsel in November 2017, which was denied as untimely in December 2017. (CT 28-51, 65.)

the time he settled his case with any significant

contemporaneous evidence.

On July 2, 2021, defendant filed a petition for review with this Court.

#### **REASONS FOR DENIAL OF REVIEW**

#### I. DEFENDANT HAS NOT IDENTIFIED A DIVISION OF AUTHORITY REGARDING THE STATUTORY REQUIREMENT THAT HE SHOW "PREJUDICIAL ERROR" BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE

Defendant asks this Court to grant review on the issue of whether a defendant establishes "prejudicial error" under section 1473.7 by submitting "unrebutted evidence" that the defendant was not meaningfully informed of the immigration consequences and did not knowingly accept those consequences prior to entering a negotiated plea. (Pet. 8.) In determining that defendant failed to establish prejudicial error under section 1473.7, the Fifth District Court of Appeal reasonably applied this Court's recent decision in *Vivar*. Because defendant has failed to identify a division of published authority in the appellate courts regarding application of *Vivar*, review is not necessary to secure uniformity of decision. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

This Court's decision in *Vivar* set forth the legal definition of "prejudicial error" under section 1473.7, subdivision (a)(1), explaining that a defendant must demonstrate "a reasonable probability that the defendant would have rejected the plea if the defendant had correctly understood its actual or potential immigration consequences." (*Vivar*, *supra*, 11 Cal.5th at p. 529.) To determine whether the defendant has shown a "reasonable probability," courts must consider the totality of the circumstances. (*Ibid.*) The Court also identified several factors "particularly relevant" to the inquiry, including "the defendant's ties to the United States, the importance the defendant placed on avoiding deportation, the defendant's priorities in seeking a plea bargain, and whether the defendant had reason to believe an immigration-neutral negotiated disposition was possible." (*Id.* at pp. 529-530.) It is not enough simply to assert that counsel erred by failing to inform (or misinforming) a defendant of the immigration consequences at the time of the plea; the error must also be prejudicial. (*Id.* at p. 528.) Accordingly, when a defendant seeks to withdraw a plea based on inadequate advisement of immigration consequences, the assertions must be corroborated with """objective evidence."" (*Id.* at p. 530.)

In this case, the Court of Appeal's opinion faithfully applied *Vivar* and reasonably considered all of the relevant factors and evidence in the record before concluding that defendant failed to establish prejudicial error under section 1473.7. (Opn. 4-7.) The appellate court first observed that defendant's claim was based entirely on his own declaration and "devoid of any objective corroborating evidence." (Opn. 5-6.) The court also noted that defendant had failed to provide any evidence from his plea counsel, such as notes or a declaration, to corroborate his concerns regarding immigration at the time of his plea. (Opn. 6, 7.) In addition, defendant failed to provide contemporaneous evidence corroborating his claim that immigration consequences were of such a paramount concern that he would have pursued a resolution that would have avoided or mitigated adverse

9

immigration consequences notwithstanding its viability. (Opn.6.)

Contrary to defendant's claim (Pet. 10), the appellate court did not fail to apply the independent standard of review or fail to consider any particular evidence. Defendant proffered four biographical facts from the time of his plea to demonstrate prejudice: (1) he had a job, (2) he was a legal permanent resident, (3) he had a wife who was a United States citizen, and (4) he had several minor children, all of whom were United States citizens. (CT 172, 177-191, 193, 198, 200-206, 208-210.) The Court of Appeal found that defendant's biographical history was the "sole corroborating evidence in the record" to support his claim of prejudicial error and agreed that "his history present[ed] a sympathetic case for relief." (Opn. 6.) But the appellate court ultimately, and reasonably, found that this evidence was unpersuasive given the lack of any other significant contemporaneous evidence to objectively corroborate the claim that immigration was a material concern at the time he settled his case and the large benefit that defendant received by entering into the plea agreement. (*Ibid.*)

In upholding the denial of defendant's section 1473.7 motion, the Court of Appeal did not create a division of authority, as no published authority has held that the facts proffered by defendant necessarily establish prejudice either individually or collectively. Defendant fails to explain why review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision. Accordingly, review should be denied.

10

#### II. THE UNIQUE FACTS OF DEFENDANT'S CASE, INCLUDING THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DOUBTS ABOUT DEFENDANT'S GENERAL CREDIBILITY, MAKE IT A POOR VEHICLE FOR SETTLING AN IMPORTANT QUESTION OF LAW

This Court may also order review of a Court of Appeal decision when review is necessary to settle an important question of law. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) But defendant has failed to explain why review is necessary to settle an important question of law. Instead, defendant's petition presents factual arguments, disagrees with the Court of Appeal's exercise of its independent judgment, and claims that the Court of Appeal should have reached a different result. (Pet. 8-11.) Because this case presents a fact-bound claim that will not settle an important question of law, review should be denied.

As this Court made clear in *Vivar*, "[u]ltimately it is for the appellate court to decide, based on its independent judgment, whether *the facts* establish prejudice under section 1473.7." (*Vivar, supra,* 11 Cal.5th at p. 528, italics added.) Thus, the claim raised by defendant is necessarily fact-bound.

Here, as Respondent has shown, *ante*, the Court of Appeal reviewed all the evidence in the record and relied upon its independent judgment to conclude that defendant failed to sufficiently corroborate his assertions of prejudicial error under section 1473.7. (Opn. 5-7.) In upholding the denial of defendant's petition, the Court of Appeal expressed "material doubt" about defendant's credibility. The appellate court noted the possibility that defendant failed to contemporaneously memorialize his immigration concerns because, according to defendant, he did not learn about them until more than 10 years after his conviction. (Opn. 7.) But the court found defendant's claim to be incredible because he *also* claimed that plea counsel had failed to inform him of the penal consequences he faced due to his plea. (*Ibid.*; see also CT 68, 71-72, 137-139, 141.) Yet there was no evidence that defendant expressed any "on-the-record confusion [or] hesitation when actually incarcerated—despite claiming he was caught unaware." (Opn. 7.) Nor did defendant write any letters "documenting his lament at incarceration." The appellate court found that "[t]his evidentiary void cast[] material doubt on [defendant's] credibility." (*Ibid.*)

While reasonable minds can disagree as to the Court of Appeal's exercise of its independent judgment and credibility determination, these are necessarily fact-bound determinations made by the Court of Appeal when independently reviewing the denial of relief under section 1473.7. The Court of Appeal's opinion in this case faithfully and reasonably applied *Vivar*, and defendant's petition amounts to a request for, at most, error correction. But, as Respondent has demonstrated, error is not immediately apparent from the Court of Appeal's application of *Vivar*.

For these reasons, defendant has failed to explain or show why review is necessary to settle an important question of law, and his petition for review should be denied.

### CONCLUSION

Accordingly, respondent respectfully requests that the petition for review be denied.